#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

### **RALPH SIMON JEREMIAS**

Electronically Filed Oct 01 2015 02:12 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

#### THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

#### **Docket No. 67228**

Direct Appeal From A Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Valerie Adair, District Judge District Court No. C256769

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JoNell Thomas
State Bar #4771
Deputy Special Public Defender
David M. Schieck
State Bar #0824
Special Public Defender
330 South 3<sup>rd</sup> Street
Las Vegas, NV 89155
(702) 455-6265
Attorneys for Ralph Jeremias

## **

Doyle v. State, 460 So. 2d 353, 358 (Fla. 1984)	
Drayden v. White, 232 F.3d 704, 712-13 (9th Cir. 2000)	

Duvall v. Reynolds, 139 F.3d 768, 795 (10th Cir. 1998)
Ellis v. Chicago, 667 F.2d 606, 613 (7th Cir. 1981)
Emil v. State, 105 Nev. 858, 864, 784 P.2d 956, 960 (1989)
Emmons v. State, 107 Nev. 53, 62, 807 P.2d 718, 724 (1991) modification on other grounds recognized by Harte v. State, 116 Nev. 1054, 13 P.3d 420 (2000)
Eslaminia v. White, 136 F.3d 1234, 1237 (9th Cir. 1998)
Evans v. State, 112 Nev. 1172, 1196, 926 P.2d 265, 280-81 (1996)
Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 401 (1985)
Ex parte Johnson, 399 So. 2d 873, 874 (Ala. 1979)
Feazell v. State, 111 Nev. 1446, 1448, 906 P.2d 727, 729 (1995)
Fields v. State 125 Nev. 785, 795, 220 P.3d 709, 716 (2009)
Funderburk v. State, 125 Nev. 260, 263, 212 P.3d 337, 339 (Nev. 2009)

Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349, 358 (1997)
Geary v. State, 91 Nev. 784, 787, 544 P.2d 417, 419 (1975) (Geary I)
Geary v. State, 110 Nev. 261, 269, 871 P.2d 927, 932 (1994) (Geary II) 123, 124
Geary v. State, 112 Nev. 1434, 930 P.2d 719 (1996) (Geary III)
Geary v. State, 114 Nev. 100, 952 P.2d 431 (1998) (Geary IV)
Geary v. State, 115 Nev. 79, 977 P.2d 344 (1999) (Geary V)
Geralds v. State, 601 So. 2d 1157, 1164 (Fla. 1992)
Glaxiola v. State, 121 Nev. 633, 646, 119 P.3d 1225, 1231 (2005)
Glossip v. Gross, 135 S.Ct. 2726, 2755-81 (2015)
Glover v. State, 125 Nev. 691, 704, 220 P.3d 684, 692 (2009)
Goings v. United States, 377 F.2d 753, 760 (8th Cir. 1967) limited on other grounds U.S. v. Thompson, 708 F.2d 1294, 103 (9th Cir. 1983)

Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003)
Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 155 (1976)
Grey v. State, 124 Nev. 110, 117, 178 P.3d 154, 159 (2008)
Guaranty Financial Services, Inc. v. Ryan, 928 F.2d 994, 1003 n. 3 (11th Cir. 1991)
Gulf Oil Corp. v. Copp Paving Comp., Inc., 419 U.S. 186, 200 (1974)
Hall v. Catoe, 601 S.E.2d 335, 339 (S.C. 2004)
Hallmark v. Eldridge, 124 Nev. 492, 499-502, 189 P.3d 646, 650 (2008)
Han Tak Lee v. Glunt, 667 F.3d 397, 407 (3rd Cir. 2012)
Harbison v. Bell, 556 us 180, 192 (2009)
Henry v. Lee, 2 Chitty 124 (1810)
Hernandez v. State, 118 Nev. 513, 525, 50 P.3d 1100, 1109 (2002)
Hernandez v. State, 124 Nev. 639, 646, 188 P.3d 1126, 1131 (2008)

Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390, 411-12 (1993)
Higgs v. State, 222 P.3d 648, 658 (2010)
Hoagland v. State, 240 P.3d 1043, 1045 (Nev. 2010)
Hollaway v. State, 116 Nev. 732, 745, 6 P.3d 987, 996 (2000)
Holmes v. State, 306 P.3d 415, 418 (Nev. 2013)
Immigration and Naturalization Service v. Cardoza-Fonseca, 480 U.S. 421, 442-43 (1987)
In re Humboldt River System, 77 Nev. 244, 248, 362 P.2d 265, 267 (1961)
In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970)
In re Oliver, 333 U.S. 257, 273 (1948)
Jacobs v. State, 101 Nev. 356, 358, 705 P2d 130, 131 (1985)
Jones v. State, 101 Nev. 573, 577, 579-81, 707 P.2d 1128, 1131, 1132-33 (1985)
Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 70, 83, 17 P.3d 397, 409, 416 (2001) 48, 135

Lesko v Lehman,
925 F.2d 1527, 1545 (3d Cir. 1991)
Lilly v. Virginia, 527 U.S. 116, 136-37 (1999)
Liparota v. United States, 471 U.S. 419, 427 (1985)
Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 605 (1978)
Lord v. State, 107 Nev. 28, 38, 42, 806 P.2d 548, 554, 557 (1991) 86, 102-03, 104, 105
Mason v. State, 118 Nev. 554, 561-62, 51 P.3d 525 (2002)
Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 335 (1976)
McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 1071, 102 P.3d 606, 626 (2004)
McConnell v. State, 121 Nev. 25, 30, 107 P.3d 1287, 1289 (2005)
Mears v. State, 83 Nev. 3, 422 P.2d 230 (1967)
Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305 (2009)
Mendoza-Lobos v. State, 125 Nev. 634, 642, 218 P.3d 501, 506 (2009)

Miller v. State, 313 P.3d 934 (Ok. Crim App. 2013)
Miller v. Warden, 112 Nev. 930, 921 P.2d 882 (1996)
Montana v. Egelhoff, 518 U.S. 37, 53 (1996)
Moody v. United States, 376 F.2d 525, 532 (9th Cir. 1967)
Mulder v. State, 116 Nev. 1, 10-11, 992 P.2d 845, 851-52 (2000)
Nay v. State, 123 Nev. 326, 330, 167 P.3d 430, 433 (2007))
Ohio Adult Parole Authority v. Woodward, 523 U.S. 272, 294 n. 4 (1998)
Orr Ditch & Water Co. v. J. Ct., 64 Nev. 138, 153, 178 P.2d 558, 565 (1947)
Pantano v. State, 122 Nev. 782, 792, 138 P.3d 477, 483 (2006)
Parle v. Runnels, 505 F.3d 922, 927 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007)
Patterson v. State, 111 Nev. 1525, 1531-32, 907 P.2d 984, 988-89 (1995)
Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 827 (1991)

Penry v. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. 302, 319 (1989)
People v. Aranda, 407 P.2d 265 (Cal. 1965)
People v. Bigelow, 691 P.2d 994, 1006-07 (Cal. 1984)
People v. Coleman, 768 P.2d 32, 50 (Cal. 1989)
Perez v. State, 313 P.3d 862, 866 (Nev. 2013)
Phillips v. Sirmons, 2008 U.S. District Lexis 29277 at 47 (E.D. Okl. 2008), reversed and remanded on other grounds, Phillips v. Workman, 604 F.3d 1202 (10th Cir. 2010)
Phillips v. State, 989 P.2d 1017, 1037-38 (Okla. Crim. App. 1999) 87, 88
Pitchford v. State, 45 So.3d 216, 251-52 & n. 100 (Miss. 2010)
Polk v. State, 233 P.3d 357, 358-59 (Nev. 2010)
Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 211-12 (2010)
Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court of Cal. Riverside Cty, 464 U.S. 501 (1984)

Putnam v. United States, 162 U.S. 687, 705 (1896)
Rembert v. State, 445 So. 2d 337, 340 (Fla. 1984)
Rhodes v. State, 547 So.2d 1201, 1206 (Fla. 1989)
Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002)
Robbins v. Small, 371 F.2d 793 (1st Cir. 1967)
Rogers v. State, 948 So.2d 655, 663-65 (Fla. 2006)
Roland v. State, 96 Nev. 300, 302, 608 P.2d 500 (1980)
Rowland v. State, 118 Nev. 31, 40, 39 P.3d 114, 119-120 (2002)
Rugamas v. State, 305 P.3d 887, 893 (Nev. 2013)
Runion v. State, 116 Nev. 1041, 1052, 13 P.3d 52, 59 (2000)
Russeau v. State, 171 S.W.3d 871, 880-81 (Tex. Crim. App. 2005)
Simmons v. South Carolina, 512 U.S. 154 (1994)

State v. Bell, 603 S.E.2d 93, 115-16 (N.C. 2004)
State v. Berget, 826 N.W.2d 1, 20 & n.11 (S.D. 2013)
State v. Blevins, 744 S.E.2d 245, 264-66 (W.Va. 2013)
State v. Goodman, 257 S.E.2d 569, 586 (N.C. 1979)
State v. Hughes, 261 P.3d 1067, 1069 (Nev. 2011)
State v. Kennedy, 735 S.E.2d 905, 916-17 (W.Va. 2012)
State v. Lui, 315 P.3d 493, 510-11 (Wash. 2014)
State v. Magnano, 326 P.3d 845, 851 (2014) (Wash. App. 2014)
State v. McGill, 140 P.3d 930, 942 (Ariz. 2006)
State v. Merlo, 92 Ore. 678, 699 (Ore. 1919)
State v. Muhammad, 678 A.2d 164, 179 (N.J. 1996)
State v. Navarette, 294 P.3d 435, 440-42 (N.M. 2013)

State v. Perelli, 5 A.2d 705 (Conn. 1939);
State v. Smith, 231 S.E.2d 663, 671 (N.C. 1977)
State v. Storey, 901 S.W.2d 886, 902 (Mo. 1995)
State v. Williams, 690 S.W.2d 517 (Tenn. 1985)
State v. Wise, 288 P.3d 1113, 1115 (Wash. 2012)
Stephens Media, LLC v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 125 Nev. 849, 850, 221 P.3d 1240, 1245 (2009)
Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 276-82 (1993)
Summers v. State, 122 Nev. 1326, 1327, 1331, 148 P.3d 778, 779, 782 (2006) 103, 112, 114
Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725, 732, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 (2001)
Thomas v. State, 120 Nev. 37, 83 P.3d 818 (2004)
Thomas v. United States, 376 F.2d 564, 567 (5th Cir. 1967)
Tuilaepa v. California, 512 U.S. 967, 973 (1994)

United States v. Agosto-Vega, 617 F.3d 541, 545-48 (1st Cir. 2010)
United States v. Bryant, 461 F.2d 912, 918 (6th Cir. 1972)
United States v. Carr, 513 F.3d 1164, 1168 (9th Cir. 2008)
United States v. Concepcion Sablan, 555 F.Supp.2d 1205, 1221 (D.Colo. 2007)
United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 148-49 (2006)
United States v. Hansen, 434 F.3d 92, 104 (1st Cir. 2006)
United States v. Harlow, 444 F.3d 1255, 1265 (10 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006)
United States v. Johnson, 378 F.Supp.2d 1051, 1061 (N.D. Iowa 2003)
United States v. Jordan, 357 F.Supp.2d 889, 902-03 (E.D.Va. 2005)
United States v. Lillard, 54 F.3d 850, 853 (9th Cir. 2003)
United States v. Lonardo, 67 F.2d 883, 884 (2nd Cir. 1933)
United States v. Mills, 446 F.Supp.2d 1115, 1135 (C.D. Cal. 2006)

United States v. Mitchell, 502 F.3d 931, 956 (9th Cir. 2007)
United States v. Necoechea, 986 F.2d 1273, 1282 (9th Cir. 1993)
United States v. Nielsen, 371 F.3d 574, 581 (9th Cir. 2004)
United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 730-36 (1993)
United States v. Peltier, 585 F.2d 314, 327 (8th Cir. 1978)
United States v. Reid, 410 F.2d 1223, 1227 (7th Cir. 1969)
United States v. Riccardi, 174 F.2d 883 (3rd Cir. 1949)
United States v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 309 (1998)
United States v. Shoupe, 548 F.2d 636 (6th Cir. 1977)
United States v. Shyrock, 342 F.3d 948, 974 (9th Cir. 2003)
United States v. Sioux, 362 F.3d 1241, 1244 n.5 (9th Cir. 2004)
United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 234 (1940)
United States v. Stapleton, 293 F.3d 1111, 1114 (9th Cir. 2002)

United States v. Stitt,
760 F.Supp.2d 570, 581 (E.D. Va. 2010)
Valdez v. State,
124 Nev. 1172, 1189, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008)
Velott v. Lewis,
102 Pa. 326 (Pa. 1883)
Viereck v. United States,
318 U.S. 236, 247-48 (1943)
Waller v. Georgia,
467 U.S. 39, 46 (1984)
Walton v. State,
481 So.2d 1197, 1200 (Fla. 1986)
Washington v. Recuenco,
548 U.S. 212, 218 & n.2 (2006)
Williams v. Illinois,
132 S.Ct. 2221 (2012)
Williams v. State,
113 Nev. 1008, 1011, 1019, 945 P.2d 438, 440, 444-45 (1997) 98
Winnerford v. State,
112 Nev. 520, 522-24, 915 P.2d 291, 292-93 (1996)
Woodson v. North Carolina,
428 U.S. 280, 296 (1976)
Zant v. Stephens,
462 U.S. 862, 877 (1983)

## **Statutory Authority**

NRS 50.115 57
NRS 50.275
NRS 51.035 54, 55, 57
NRS 175.211 86
NRS 175.221 66
NRS 175.441 67
NRS 177.055
NRS 178.602
NRS 200.033 90, 93, 99
NRS 213.005-213.100
NRS 213.085
NRS 213.010
NRS 213.1099
Other Authority
3 Wigmore on Evidence, sec 758.759 (Chadburn rev. 1970)
5 Wigmore on Evidence (3 ed.) sec 1415, p. 191
Fed. Rules of Evidence 611

James S. Liebman, <u>A Broken System: Error Rates in Capital Cases</u> , 1973-1995 (2000)
Nevada Const. Art. I, Sec 3 44, 47, 65, 71, 76, 84, 90, 100, 107, 115, 119, 113
Nevada Const. Art. I, Sec 6 44, 47, 65, 71, 76, 84, 90, 100, 107, 115, 119, 113
Nevada Const. Art. I, Sec 8 44, 47, 65, 71, 76, 84, 90, 100, 107, 115, 119, 113
Nevada Const. Art. IV, Sec 21 44, 47, 65, 71, 76, 84, 90, 100, 107, 115, 119, 113
Pepson & Sharifi, Two Wrongs Don't Make a Right:  Federal Death Eligibility Determinations and Judicial Trifurcation,  43 Akron L.Rev 1 (2010)
U.S. Const. Amend. I
U.S. Const. Amend. V
U.S. Const. Amend. VI 44, 47, 65, 71, 76, 84, 100, 107, 115, 119, 133
U.S. Const. Amend. VIII
U.S. Const. Amend. XIV
U.S. Dept. of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics Bulletin, Capital Punishment 2001
U.S. Dept. of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics Report, Capital Punishment 2006 (Dec 2007 NCJ 220219)

### I. <u>JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT</u>

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction, pursuant to a jury verdict, and two sentences of death. 15 ROA 3262. The jury convicted Appellant Ralph Jeremias of one count of conspiracy to commit robbery, one count of burglary while in possession of a deadly weapon, two counts of robbery with use of a deadly weapon, and two counts of murder with use of a deadly weapon. 15 ROA 3262-64. The judgment of conviction was filed on January 15, 2015. 15 ROA 3262. A timely notice of appeal was filed on January 15, 2015. 15 ROA 3257. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRS 177.015 and NRS 177.055.

### II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(2), this death penalty case is assigned to the Supreme Court of Nevada.

### III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether the district court violated Jeremias's right to a public trial by excluding members of the public, including his family, from jury selection.
- B. Whether the district court violated Jeremias's constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial by allowing the State to examine its primary witness in repeated violation of evidentiary rules.

- C. Whether the district court violated Jeremias's constitutional rights of due process, a public trial and confrontation by allowing the jury to review a video recording of his interrogation which was not presented to the jury in open court during the course of the trial.
- D. Whether the district court violated Jeremias's constitutional rights of cross-examination and confrontation by allowing the testimony of a coroner who did not perform the autopsies.
- E. Whether the district court abused its discretion in allowing speculation about the origin of pieces of plastic for which no reliable expert testimony was presented.
- F. Whether the district court erred in instructing the jury on the presumption of innocence.
- G. Whether the aggravating circumstance of murder committed to avoid arrest is invalid and not supported by the evidence.
- H. Whether the district court violated Jeremias's constitutional right of confrontation and notice by allowing the State to admit the interrogation of a co-defendant who did not testify.
- I. Whether the district court violated Jeremias's constitutional rights of crossexamination and confrontation by allowing testimonial hearsay evidence to be

- admitted during the penalty trial.
- J. Whether the district court violated Jeremias's Second Amendment rights, and his rights to due process of law, by presenting evidence of gun possession as evidence of bad character.
- K. Whether the prosecutors committed misconduct during the penalty phase closing arguments.
- L. Whether the death penalty is unconstitutional.
- M. Whether the conviction and sentence of death are invalid under the cumulative error doctrine.

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 5, 2009, the State charged Carlos Zapata, Ivan Rios, and Ralph Jeremias, by way of Indictment, with one count each of Conspiracy to Commit Robbery, and Burglary While In Possession of a Deadly Weapon; and two counts each of Robbery With Use Of A Deadly Weapon and Murder With use of a Deadly Weapon. 1 ROA 1-5. The State alleged that on June 7, 2009, the three men acted in concert and that Jeremias shot and killed Paul Stephens and Brian Hudson, and then took their property. 1 ROA 1-5. In support of the murder charges, the State alleged theories of (1) willful, deliberate and premeditated killing; (2) felony murder with robbery and burglary predicate offenses; (3) conspiracy; and (4) aiding and abetting.

1 ROA 4-5. The three defendants entered pleas of not guilty. 2 ROA 336 (Rios), 338 (Zapata), 342 (Jeremias).

On September 1, 2009, the State filed its Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty. 1 ROA 65. The State alleged aggravators of (1) murder committed in the commission of a robbery (Stephens); (2) murder committed in the commission of a robbery (Hudson); (3) murder committed to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest; and (4) conviction in the immediate proceeding of more than one offense of murder in the first or second degree. 1 ROA 65-68. The State did not seek the death penalty against Zapata or Rios. 1 ROA 132.

On September 17, 2010, Jeremias filed a motion to sever his trial from the trial of his co-defendants. 2 ROA 344-57. The State opposed the motion. 2 ROA 400. The district court heard argument on the motion on October 11, 2010. 2 ROA 426. The district court denied the motion. 2 ROA 429. On April 7, 2011, Jeremias filed a Joinder in Rios's motion to sever. 3 ROA 524. On May 11, 2011, the district court ordered that the trial of Rios and Jeremias be severed. 3 ROA 640-41.

The State and Zapata entered a negotiation in which Zapata agreed to testify against Rios and Jeremias and in exchange his charges were reduced to two counts of second degree murder and other lesser offenses. He was sentenced to serve two concurrent terms of 10 years to 25 years and other concurrent sentences. 10 ROA

2048-49. Rios went to trial prior to Jeremias. 13 ROA 2855. Despite Zapata's testimony against him, Rios was acquitted of the State's charges. 13 ROA 2855.

On September 17, 2010, Jeremias filed a Motion to Dismiss State's Notice of Intent To Seek Death Penalty Because Nevada's Death Penalty Statute is Unconstitutional. 2 ROA 365. See also 4 ROA 769 (motion filed October 30, 2013). The State opposed the motions. 2 ROA 408; 4 ROA 835. The district court denied the motions. 2 ROA 430; 5 ROA 893, 903.

On October 24, 2013, the State filed its Notice of Evidence To Support Intent To Seek Death Penalty. 2 ROA 708. On February 20, 2014, the State filed an Amended Notice of Evidence to Support Intent to Seek Death Penalty. 5 ROA 990. The State filed a Second Amended Notice of Evidence to Support Intent to Seek Death Penalty on October 10, 2014. 5 ROA 1017.

At calendar call, the State announced that it intended to call Dr. Gavin to testify as the coroner, Dr. Telgenhoff, had retired and had not returned the prosecutor's telephone calls. 5 ROA 1045. Jeremias objected and argued that under <u>Crawford</u> and its progeny, substitute testimony was not allowed. 5 ROA 1045. Jeremias offered to continue the trial so that Dr. Telgenhoff could be located. 5 ROA 1045. The district court denied the motion and declined to continue the trial. 5 ROA 1046. The objection was renewed at trial. 10 ROA 2117.

Trial began on October 27, 2014. 5 ROA 1058. Prior to jury selection, the State objected to the presence of Jeremias's family during jury selection. 5 ROA 1060. The district court informed the family members that all of the seats would be used for the potential jurors. 5 ROA 1060.

On the fourth day of trial, outside the presence of the jury, the district court held a hearing regarding redactions of a taped statement and the admission of toxicology results from the autopsy. 9 ROA 1889.

On November 4, 2014, Jeremias filed objections to the State's proposed jury instructions. 9 ROA 1911-28. Also on November 4, 2014, defense counsel filed proposed trial phase instructions. 11 ROA 2235; 14 ROA 3028-58. Jury instruction were settled on November 3 and 5, 2014. 11 ROA 2302; 12 ROA 2492; 13 ROA 2678-2737 (court's instructions). Closing arguments for the culpability phase took place on November 5, 2014. 12 ROA 2491, 2503.

The jury requested a playback of the testimony of Aimee Henkel. 13 ROA 2739. The testimony was played in court. 12 App. 2739. The jury returned its verdicts on November 6, 2014. 12 ROA 2586, 2740-43. It found Jeremias guilty of each of the charges. 12 ROA 2586-89. Special verdicts indicated that the jury unanimously found him guilty of first degree murder under theories of premeditation, felony committed in the perpetration of a burglary, and felony committed in the

perpetration of a robbery. 12 ROA 2588-89.

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