IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RALPH SIMON JEREMIAS,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Apr 28 2016 03:37 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 67228

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JONELL THOMAS Deputy Special Public Defender Nevada Bar #004771 330 South 3rd Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-6265 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

The admission of Jeremias' criminal history did not violate the Confrontation Clause. As this Court held in Summers, the Confrontation Clause has no application at capital penalty hearings. 122 Nev. at 1333, 148 P.3d at 782-83. Although Jeremias provides a few non-binding cases that, at best, marginally support his proposition, the basis of this Court's decision in Summers has remained unchanged. Specifically, there has been no controlling authority in the intervening ten years since Summers that has overruled Williams. Additionally, Jeremias points to no federal circuit courts of appeal that have adopted his argument and applied confrontation rights to capital penalty hearings. Finally, the weight of authority still remains that hearsay is admissible at penalty hearings, capital and noncapital alike. See, e.g., Muhammad v. Secretary, Florida Dept. of Corrections, 733 F.3d 1065, 1077 (11th Cir. 2013); United States v. Yeung, 672 F.3d 594, 606 (9th Cir. 2012) (affirming United States v. Littlesun, 444 F.3d 1196, 1199 (9th Cir. 2006)) abrogated, in part, on other grounds, by Robers v. United States, 134 S. Ct. 1854 (2014); Szabo v. Walls, 313 F.3d 392 (7th Cir. 2002); United States v. Fields, 483 F.3d 313 (5th Cir. 2007); Petric v. State, 157 So. 3d 176 (Ala. Crim. App. 2013); State v. McGill, 213 Ariz. 147, 140

P.3d 930 (2006); State v. Shackleford, 155 Idaho 454, 314 P.3d 136, 142-44 (2013); People v. Banks, 237 Ill. 2d 154, 203, 934 N.E.2d 435 (2010); State v. Berget, 826 N.W.2d 1, 21 (S.D. 2013); State v. Stephenson, 195 S.W.3d 574 (Tenn. 2006). Because the basis justifying this Court's decision in Summers has not been eroded in the last ten years and, if anything, has grown more firm in the intervening time, this Court should reject Jeremias' request to overrule Summers out of hand.

Further, it is worth noting that the vast majority of the cases on which Jeremias relies for support hold only that the Confrontation Clause applies to the "eligibility phase" of capital penalty hearings. See United States v. Jordan, 357 F. Supp. 2d 889, 902-05 (E.D. Va. 2005) (finding the Confrontation Clause applies to the eligibility phase but not to the "selection phase"); United States v. Johnson, 378 F. Supp. 2d 1051, 1061-62 (N.D. Iowa 2003) (same); State v. McGill, 213 Ariz. 147, 158-59, 140 P.3d 930, 942 (2006) (same); State v. Bell, 359 N.C. 1, 34-37, 603 S.E.2d 93, 115-16 (2004) (finding admission of out-of-court statement to establish a statutory aggravator violated the Confrontation Clause). Although Summers was not a unanimous decision, one thing all members of that Court agreed on was that the Confrontation Clause does not apply to the "selection phase" of a capital penalty hearing. 122 Nev. at 1333, 148 P.3d at 783 (noting uniform agreement among the majority and dissenting opinions that the Confrontation Clause does not apply to the "selection phase"); see also 122 Nev. at 1340, 148 P.3d at 787-88 ("I see no basis in

either <u>Ring</u> or <u>Crawford</u> to extend the Sixth Amendment confrontation right to the selection phase of a capital penalty hearing.") (J. Douglas, dissenting). Further, <u>Summers</u> noted that, if the Confrontation Clause applied to the "eligibility phase" but not the "selection phase" of a capital penalty hearing, unbifurcated penalty hearings, such as the one conducted in this case, would "remain constitutionally viable." Thus, to the extent the vast bulk of Jeremias' non-binding authority stands for the proposition that the Confrontation Clause applies to the "eligibility phase" of capital penalty hearings, adopting such a rule would not condemn the result or the procedure in this case one iota.¹¹

X. ADMISSION OF JEREMIAS' GUN POSSESSION RELATING TO HIS CRIMINAL HISTORY DURING THE PENALTY PHASE DID NOT CONSTITUTE PLAIN ERROR

Jeremias next contends that evidence of his prior possession of guns was unconstitutionally admitted during his penalty hearing, constituting plain error warranting reversal. This Court generally reviews the admission of testimony during

The State also notes that Jeremias likewise relied significantly on hearsay evidence to present alleged mitigating circumstances. See 14 ROA 2863, 2868, 2910-35, 3112-13. This hearsay evidence was admitted without objection. In light of the fact that both parties relied extensively on out-of-court statements, it cannot be suggested that the rule announced in Summers exclusively benefits either party in a criminal proceeding to the detriment of the opposing party. Instead, the policy behind Summers is the same articulated in Williams: to provide the relevant factfinder with as much information as possible to inform their decision regarding the penalty to be imposed.

the penalty phase of a capital trial for an abuse of discretion. Floyd v. State, 118 Nev. 156, 174, 42 P.3d 249, 261 (2002), abrogated on other grounds by, Grey v. State, 124 Nev. 110, 178 P.3d 154 (2008). NRS 175.552(3) provides that "evidence may be presented concerning aggravating and mitigating circumstances relative to the offense, defendant or victim and on any other matter which the court deems relevant to sentence, whether or not the evidence is ordinarily admissible." Thus, the sentencing jury is entitled to consider all relevant aspects of a defendant's criminal background, and details of prior crimes are relevant and admissible at penalty hearings. Emil v. State, 105 Nev. 858, 864, 784 P.2d 956, 960 (1989). Furthermore, testimony by police officers regarding their investigations of a defendant's other crimes is admissible at a capital penalty hearing so long as the evidence is not "impalpable or highly suspect." Homick v. State, 108 Nev. 127, 138, 825 P.2d 600, 607 (1992). In addition, admission of such evidence is left to the sound discretion of the district court. Id. A defendant's character and his record are "relevant factors to be considered by a jury in imposing a penalty for a capital crime . . . " Allen, 99 Nev. at 488, 665 P.2d 238; see also Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 96 S. Ct. 2978, 49 L.Ed.2d 944 (1976). However, when an objection is not lodged at trial, this Court reviews for plain error. Burnside, 352 P.3d at 647 (reviewing the admission of evidence not objected to at the penalty hearing for plain error).

During the penalty hearing, evidence was admitted that Jeremias was found in possession of two unregistered handguns on July 1, 2006, a handgun with the serial number removed on August 19, 2006, and a shotgun, a .22 handgun, an AK-47 assault rifle, and a Colt .38 handgun on January 25, 2007. 13 ROA 2820-31. Additionally, evidence was admitted that Jeremias was found in possession of controlled substances on each of these three incidents. <u>Id.</u> Jeremias was charged with criminal offenses arising out of all three incidents, and was specifically charged with gun-related offenses stemming out of two of the incidents. <u>See</u> 25 ROA 25 ROA 5452, 5462; 26 ROA 5530. There was no objection to admission of evidence related to Jeremias' prior gun ownership.

Jeremias' argument arises from a false premise based on his reliance on District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 628, 128 S. Ct. 2783, 2818-19 (2008). In Heller, the United States Supreme Court held a law that universally prohibited the possession of handguns violated the Second Amendment. However, Jeremias' reliance on this decision is misplaced as this case provides no support for the proposition that gun ownership cannot be admitted as relevant evidence at a criminal trial. Jeremias' argument is as illogical as contending admission of a defendant's confession violates their right to freedom of speech. See Wisconsin v. Mitchell, 508 U.S. 476, 489, 113 S. Ct. 2194, 2201 (1993) ("The First Amendment, moreover, does not prohibit the evidentiary use of speech to establish the elements of a crime

or to prove motive or intent."). That a law cannot prohibit the possession of handguns does not preclude the admission of relevant evidence of gun ownership. Jeremias does not contend the evidence was irrelevant in his penalty hearing, but instead relies solely on his claim that admission violated his Second Amendment rights. As such, his argument must fail.

Further, evidence of Jeremias' gun possession was relevant as it directly related to his criminal history. As stated <u>supra</u>, Jeremias was charged with criminal offenses arising out of all three prior instances of which he complains. Importantly, Jeremias' prior criminal charges included gun-related offenses on two of the three occasions he raises on appeal. <u>See</u> 25 ROA 25 ROA 5452, 5462; 26 ROA 5530. As Jeremias' gun ownership directly related to his criminal history and specifically to his history of committing gun-related criminal offenses, admission of such evidence was relevant and highly probative at Jeremias' penalty hearing. <u>See Emil</u>, 105 Nev. at 864, 784 P.2d at 960.

XI. ALLEGED PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DURING THE PENALTY PHASE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE PLAIN ERROR

Jeremias contends the following prosecutorial misconduct occurred and establishes plain error warranting reversal: 1) improper cross-examination of Tami Bass concerning the likelihood of Jeremias' release from prison; 2) improper argument about the value of Brian's life. To determine whether prosecutorial

misconduct occurred, the Court "must determine whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper," and then, "must determine whether the improper conduct warrants reversal." Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). In determining whether reversal is appropriate, "the relevant inquiry is whether a prosecutor's statements so infected the proceedings with unfairness as to make the result a denial of due process." Hernandez v. State, 118 Nev. 513, 50 P.3d 1100, 1108 (2002) (citing Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S. Ct. 2464 (1986)). The statement should be considered in context and "a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comment standing alone." Id. (citing United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 11 S. Ct 1038 (1985)). Comments that are harmless beyond a reasonable doubt do not warrant a reversal of a defendant's conviction. Witter, 112 Nev. at 923, 921 P.2d at 897; Witherow v. State, 104 Nev. 721, 765 P.2d 1153 (1988). "If the prosecutor's reasoning is faulty, such faulty reasoning is subject to the ultimate consideration and determination by the jury." Green v. State, 81 Nev. 173, 176, 400 P.2d 766, 767 (1965).

"Inappropriate prosecutorial comments, standing alone, would not justify a reviewing court to reverse a criminal conviction obtained in an otherwise fair proceeding." <u>United States v. Young</u>, 470 U.S. 1, 11-12, 105 S. Ct. 1038, 1044 (1985). The comments must be viewed in context of the trial to determine if the proceeding was prejudiced so as to preclude a fair trial. <u>Id.</u> Thus, an exceptionally

strict standard governs courts in granting reversals of verdicts based upon prosecutorial misconduct.

Further, the Nevada Supreme Court has consistently held that "failure to object during trial generally precludes appellate consideration of an issue." <u>Gallego v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 348, 365, 23 P.3d 227, 239 (2001). In <u>Riley v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 205, 808 P.2d 551 (1991), this Court held that it is not required to address the merits of allegations of improper closing arguments when an objection was not raised at trial. This Court held that:

As a general rule, to entitle a defendant to have improper remarks of counsel considered on appeal, objections must be made to them at the time, and the court must be required to rule upon the objection, to admonish counsel, and instruct the jury. First, we note that defense counsel failed to object to any of the preceding comments. Therefore, we are not required to address the merits of appellant's belatedly raised contentions on this issue.

<u>Id.</u> at 208, 808 P.2d at 559 (citations and internal quotations omitted). Where Defendant did not object, his challenge to the prosecutor's remarks is subject to plain error review. <u>United States v. Olano</u>, 507 U.S. 725, 733-35, 113 S. Ct. 1770, 1777-78 (1993). Plain error exists only in exceptional circumstances when a substantial right of a defendant is affected. Olano, 507 U.S. at 733-35.

A. The prosecutor's cross-examination of Bass was proper.

Bass testified during Jeremias' penalty hearing that she was a former member of the Nevada State Board of Parole from 1999 to 2007. 14 ROA 3016. During her

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